



Norwegian University of Life Sciences

Master's Thesis 2022 60 ECTS

Faculty of Environmental Sciences and Natural Resource Management

Fine root traits in European beech and Norway spruce forests in Southern Norway and their impact on carbon storage

Julia F Brendehaug Master of Science in Ecology



Front page photo: Fine roots of Beech (Fagus Sylvatica) with ectomycorrhizal fungi. Photo by Julia F. Brendehaug

Abstract:

With a warmer climate, temperate tree species like beech may become more widespread towards Norden latitudes, because of the less favorable conditions for spruce trees. Boreal forest trees form ectomycorrhiza, a symbiotic relationship between plants and fungi, with key importance for global carbon and nutrient cycling. Despite the broad recognition of the importance of fine roots and mycorrhizae for carbon acquisition, we do not know how the amount of fine root traits in different tree species may reflect their potential for carbon storage. The aim of my thesis was to quantify the fine root traits in beech and spruce forests and interpret the results as the potential for carbon storage belowground. I considered the mycorrhization, the root biomass, and fine root production as a indicator for carbon storage in spruce and in beech.

To quantify the fine root traits, I sampled soil cores in spruce and beech forest stands in southeast Norway, then extracted and scanned live fine roots. I measured fine root traits such as root branching (number of root tips and forks), root length, root diameter, root surface area and root biomass. By considering all fine root tips to be mycorrhizal I estimated the mycorrhization level in beech and spruce in different soil layers. To estimate the amount of fine root production (over one growing season) I extracted and weighed all fine roots from root meshes, which I installed at the beginning of the growing season, and then evaluated three months later.

Visual inspection showed almost 100% of all root tips to be ectomycorrhizal. Beech had significantly more root tips (mean n= 1.1 million tips/m²), than spruce (mean n= 0.4 million tips/m²). The total number of root forks was also significantly higher in beech. Average fine root diameter was significantly larger in spruce than in beech. I found no significant difference in specific root area (SRA) among beech and spruce. The average fine root biomass was significantly higher in beech (mean = 662 g/m²) compared with spruce (mean = 367 g/m²). Fine root production was significantly higher in the beech forest than in the spruce forest.

My results indirectly indicate beech forests to potentially store more belowground carbon than spruce forests. How beech forests, which potentially store more carbon belowground, will change in the context of a warmer climate with longer growing seasons, remains to be seen. More research is needed to test if these results can be generalized to wider forest ecosystems in the future.

Acknowledgments:

This thesis is submitted as the final part of my master's degree in Ecology at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences.

I would like to thank my main supervisor, Professor Isabella Børja at NIBIO (Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy) for providing academic guidance and knowledgeable feedback, and for being available, supportive, and encouraging throughout the year. I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Professor Johan Asplund (Department of Ecology and Natural Resource Management) for helping with statistics as well as offering encouragement and valuable feedback throughout. Thanks to my co-supervisor, Professor Line Nybakken (Department of Ecology and Natural Resource Management), for helping with the background chapter and fieldwork assistance. A great thanks to NIBIO for lending me the equipment for field- and lab work during the entire process. I am grateful to Head Engineer Annie Aasen (Department of Ecology and Natural Resource Management), for her patient guidance in the lab. Great gratitude to my student supervisor at MINA, Espen Arestøl, for facilitating a master's program for my mental needs.

A lot of gratitude to the NMBU writing center and the assistants Wies Dijkstra, Phuong Khanh Le, and Louise Risholm Bauer-Nilsen, for help with academic writing and statistical analysis during the weeks I struggled. Much gratitude is also owed to Dagmar Bettina Ludwig at the NMBU library for her extended help with Endnote, and reference searching. I also want to acknowledge the great help of Associate Prof. Inger Auestad and Senior Researcher Kyrre Groven in structuring my master's thesis and letting it tell my story, and most of all for the proofreading. Any mistakes contained in this thesis belong solely to the author.

I could have not done this without the help of friends and family, my father, Eivind Brendehaug, my friends, especially Lisa and Rebecca, who helped in the field and later with the writing process. Heartfelt thanks to Eirik Rismhyr for help with the fieldwork, breaks at the cabins and generally being incredibly patient and a strong emotional support. Lastly, I could not have done this without the constant support from my aunt Gunilla Frisk, yours truly.

Ås, December 2022 Julia Frisk Brendehaug

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	1
1.		·····
		Z
	1.2 Spruce and beech in boreal forests of Norway	
	1.2 Knowledge gaps and previous research:	6
	1.3 Aim of the study	6
2. M	faterials and Methods	8
	2.1 Site characteristics	8
	2.2 Vegetation description:	9
	2.3 Sampling design	10
	2.4 Fine root extraction and scanning	11
	2.5 Fine root production	12
	2.6 Statistical methods	12
3. R	esults	14
	3.1 Number of root tips – mycorrhization level	
	3.2. Number of fine root forks – mycorrhization level	
	3.3 Specific root length (SRL)	15
	3.4 Fine root diameter	
	3.5 Specific root area (SRA)	
	3.6 Fine root biomass	
	3.7 Fine root production	
4. D	viscussion	
	4.1 Number of tips and forks - mycorrhization level	19
	4.2 Specific root length (SRL)	20
	4.3 Fine root diameter	
	4.4. Specific root area (SRA)	
	4.5 Fine root biomass	22
	4.6. Fine root production	23
	4.7 Future research	25
5. C	onclusions	
6. R	eferences	27
7 4	nnandiz	····· 41
/. A	.ppenuix	

1. Introduction

Carbon (C) is one of the most abundant elements in all living organisms (Hessen et al., 2004). The C content in vegetation is usually calculated by considering the C content in plants to be 50% of plant biomass (de Vries et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2018). Plant photosynthesis captures the atmospheric CO_2 and transfers it into C to form biological compounds for building and maintaining the biological structures (Hessen et al., 2004). In this process a vast organic C pool is created in terrestrial vegetation, both above and belowground.

The largest terrestrial pool of organic carbon (C) is found in soils (Batjes, 1996). Especially boreal forests are efficient in storing belowground C and about 60% of their C is stored belowground (Pan et al., 2011). The ultimate C storage in forest soils is determined by the balance between C input (litter, photosynthesis) versus C output (respiration, decomposition), recalcitrance of the C-compounds, also affected by climate, vegetation, soil properties, and land use (Batjes, 1996).

Tree roots play a crucial role in acquiring and storing the belowground C (Clemmensen et al., 2013). Fine roots, usually defined as < 2mm in diameter (Figure 1) (Pregitzer, 2002)., are mainly involved in water and nutrients resource uptake and, C storage created from the tree photosynthesis (Ostonen et al., 2013). Although fine roots constitute only a fragment of the total root biomass, they consume substantial amounts of C during their growth and maintenance (Deans, 1981; Guo et al., 2013). They make up a considerable part of the global terrestrial carbon cycle and are a major constituent of carbon belowground (Jackson et al., 1997). Therefore, they play an essential role in soil carbon, nutrient, and water cycles (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b).

While fine roots are the short-lived, physiologically active part of the root system, coarse roots live considerably longer. Coarse roots, defined as roots larger than 2 mm in diameter, are lignified and mainly have a function in resource transportation and stability (Persson, 2002). Although coarse roots eventually contribute to the C storage in soils, their contribution to C input is smaller than fine roots because of their static nature (Bolte et al., 2004). Consequently, fine roots are more dynamic in nature than coarse roots, and constantly grow, die, and decompose.

Fine root branching, or number of root tips and forks, reflects the absorptive potential of the root system (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015a; Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). The fine root length along with root surface area, indicate the potential of fine roots to explore the soil in the search for and acquisition of water and nutrients, and these traits have a high relevance for ecosystem functioning (Ostonen et al., 2007b). Root diameter is used for technically distinguishing among the fine roots and coarse roots and for calculating other traits, such as root volume or root surface area (Bauhus & Messier, 1999). Root area is used to estimate the area of the roots available for absorption of nutrients and water as

well as attachment of symbiotic fungi (Børja et al., 2008; Ostonen et al., 2013). Biomass of fine roots, expressed as dry weight of fine roots per square meter of soil, is the total amount of fine roots. Root production, on the other hand, is a dynamic measure, reflecting the amount of fine roots (n/m^2) produced during a given time period (Ekblad et al., 2013; Lukac & Godbold, 2010) (see extended definitions in Appendix A, table 7.1).

The assessment of different root traits may provide a promising basis for a more quantitative and predictive global change research (Kattge et al., 2011), such as their use in models and in databases. Plant traits in general, or root traits in particular, are defined as morphological, anatomical, or phenological features measurable at the individual species level (Violle et al., 2007). Root traits, such as tips, forks, length, diameter, area, biomass, and production reflect the evolutionary adaptation of the root system and respond dynamically to abiotic and biotic environmental factors (Valladares et al., 2007), and thus the effect of environmental changes, such as warming (Wilson et al., 2017), elevated CO₂ (Staddon et al., 1999) or nitrogen enrichment (Jumpponen et al., 2005) on ecosystem functioning. Therefore, the quantification of root traits provides indirect information about their nutrient absorbing efficiency or carbon storage. Many of the of fine root traits are relatively sparsely represented in different databases (Kattge et al., 2011), which reflects their laborious assessment and methodological challenges.

1.1 Mycorrhiza:

In forest soils, the majority of fine tree roots are commonly more than 95% colonized by mycorrhizal fungi (Helmisaari et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2018; Taylor, 2002). Mycorrhiza is a symbiotic interaction where plant fine roots and specialized soil fungi exchange carbon and nutrients (Smith & Read, 2008). While plant roots provide carbohydrates from their photosynthesis to their fungal partners, mycorrhizal fungi provide nutrients and water to plants. Therefore, the mycorrhizal short root, or root tip, is considered a symbiotic functional unit where exchange of nutrients, carbon, and water between the symbiotic partners takes place (Smith & Read, 2008). Because mycorrhizal fungi (unlike saprotrophic fungi) derive carbon from their living hosts, this strategy frees them from the competition with saprotrophic soil fungi which derive their carbon from dead organic material (Kyaschenko et al., 2017; Smith & Read, 2008). Therefore, mycorrhizal fungi can strongly affect plant nutrient uptake, biomass, and carbon allocation (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015a; Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). In many ecosystems, mycorrhizae, together with fine roots, provide the largest input of carbon into soils (Clemmensen et al., 2013; Verbruggen et al., 2016). Mycorrhizal symbionts and fine roots are therefore also of major importance to the carbon flow on global scales (Kattge et al., 2011).

The most abundant mycorrhizal association in temperate and boreal forests is ectomycorrhiza (ECM), which occurs in 2% of trees globally (Brundrett, 2002; Maherali et al., 2016). Ectomycorrhizal colonization takes place primarily, if not exclusively, in fine roots (Guo et al., 2008), meaning not the

total root biomass, but rather the fine root fraction, needs to be examined in mycorrhizal studies. Therefore, the intensity of plant root colonization by ectomycorrhiza is usually expressed as the number of root tips colonized by the fungi (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015a). This is the best available measurement quantifying the "strength" of the plant–fungi relationship at the site. Therefore, the amount of fine root tips (or colonization by mycorrhizal fungi) can be used as an indicator of nutrient and carbon flow between plants and fungi (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b).

Ectomycorrhizal fungi cause the fine root tips to swell and develop into a "Christmas tree"-like structure on the surface of the fine root (Figure 1) (Smith & Read, 2008). Ectomycorrhizal hyphae expand into an extensive belowground network which can cover a considerable area. Because the amount of mycorrhization can be species-specific, it can be used in ecological analyses (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015a; Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b).



Figure 1. Beech fine roots (left) and spruce fine roots (right) with ectomycorrhiza. Observation during lab work in the autumn of 2021. Photo: Julia F. Brendehaug

The amount of mycorrhization connected to fine roots varies with species and depth due to their nutrient and water requirements in their forest ecosystems. For example, two different tree species can have a difference in fine roots depth, and thus where the mycorrhization is located. Possibly, fine roots and mycorrhization can together say something about where carbon is stored belowground (Meier et al., 2018; Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). Therefore, there is a connection between fine root traits, mycorrhization, and carbon storage in tree species which is important to assess further.

1.2 Spruce and beech in boreal forests of Norway

Looking at tree species located in Norway, spruce (*Picea abies* (L. Karst) is currently the dominant species in the amount of biomass, especially on nutrient rich soils (Moen & Lillethun, 1999). The tree species with the lowest distribution is beech (*Fagus sylvatica L.*), which is restricted to a few locations: Larvik and a few other locations in southeast and western Norway (Myking, 2020) (Figure 2). These populations of beech are regarded as the northernmost distribution in Europe (Myking et al., 2011).



Figure 2: Current beech distribution in Scandinavia, restricted to Vestfold, Larvik, and a few trees in the northwestern part of the Hardanger fjord (Seim). (Source: <u>www.nibio.no</u>) (Myking, 2020).

Current beech distribution is low in Norway, as beech has a temperature disadvantage compared to spruce because of a cool climate and short growing seasons. Possibly, climate warming and prolonged growing season can contribute to more beech forests in Norway. A slow shifting process in species from the current spruce forest domination to more beech and deciduous species may be seen as we approach the year 2100 (Figure 3), together with a decrease in spruce, following the higher



Figure 3: Projecting the future distribution of European potential natural vegetation zones with a generalized, tree species-based dynamic vegetation model (Source: Hickler et al., 2012).

temperatures. However, how a species shift from coniferous to deciduous species may affect carbon storage belowground is still very uncertain, due to many variables affecting C storage in tree roots (Hickler et al., 2012).

Research by Ransedokken (2016, 2019) in boreal forests (in Brånakollane), who looked at the soil carbon below spruce and beech, showed the amounts of soil carbon between the species to be similar. However, according to research by Kirfel et al. (2019) and Ostonen et al. (2013), beech and spruce fine root traits and mycorrhization are heterogeneous due to their differences in root architecture, which is defined as the shape and the structure of the roots (Freschet et al., 2021a). Kirfel et al. (2019) reports a higher amount of fine roots in beech subsoil (10-15 cm), due to the species root architecture (Figure 4). Spruce, on the other hand, is believed to have a shallow root architecture with most fine roots in the topsoil (5-10 cm), which is where most of the previous research is concentrated (Ostonen et al., 2013).



Figure 4: Beech and spruce tree root characteristics with topsoil (0 -15 cm) and subsoil (15-25 cm) at a site. Drawing by Julia F. Brendehaug

The number of fine roots varies with species and depth according to previous literature. For example, Helmisaari et al. (2009) reports a high concentration of fine roots in spruce topsoil. Further, studies by Børja et al. (2008) and also found high amounts of fine roots in spruce in the upper layers. Previous studies therefore suggest the proportion of C to be larger in coniferous forests than in deciduous forests (Gower et al., 1997). However, in a review analysis of over 140 sites in Europe, Finér et al. (2007) showed fine root biomass to be greater belowground in beech than spruce. Due to this

difference in opinion, comparisons between fine roots in deciduous species (beech) and conifer species (spruce) needs to be further studied in boreal forests.

Helmisaari et al. (2009), Vogt (1998) and Ostonen et al. (2005) also reported a higher number of studies on spruce in boreal forest in Scandinavia, compared to beech. Beech has not been extensively researched in boreal forests, especially on fine roots. However, it may be explained by a lack of comparisons between beech and spruce in boreal sones, but also due to its scattered appearance (Figure 2). Therefore, beech and other deciduous trees needs to be recognized in boreal forests due to their possible increased distribution in the future (Figure 3).

1.2 Knowledge gaps and previous research:

To date, only a few studies have looked into fine root traits and ectomycorrhizal fungi in beech in boreal forest, using fine root tips and other fine root traits (Helmisaari et al., 2009), especially how the quantified root traits may be interpreted; regarding the belowground carbon storage and mycorrhization (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). For example, the traits of root tips/forks, length, diameter, and root area have only been studied and measured in some previous studies by Soudzilovskaia et al. (2015a; 2015b). The present research is far from complete (Chen et al., 2004; Freschet et al., 2021b; Meier et al., 2018). Obtaining these data is cumbersome, as any attempt to quantify the roots is destructive and methods of estimation and assessment are energy and time consuming (Finér et al., 2011a; Finér et al., 2011b). Fine roots are hard to work with due to their small size (Cornelissen et al., 2003), and therefore the workload needed is often not prioritized. Ectomycorrhizal fungi have to a lesser extent been included in the models of carbon storage of the roots (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b), and little of mycorrhiza's important contribution to carbon storage has been used in ecological analysis.

1.3 Aim of the study

The aim of this study was to quantify the fine root traits in beech and spruce forests and interpret the results with the amount of mycorrhization, as their potential for carbon storage belowground. I considered the increase in mycorrhization, root biomass, and production as a relative measurement to increase in carbon storage in spruce and beech.

To quantify the fine root traits, I took soil cores in spruce and beech forest stands in southeast Norway, then extracted and scanned live fine roots. I measured fine root traits such as root branching (number of root tips and forks), root length, root diameter, root surface area and root biomass. By considering all fine root tips to be mycorrhizal I estimated the mycorrhization level in beech and spruce and different soil layers. To estimate the amount of fine root production over one growing season I extracted and weighed all fine roots from root-meshes I installed at the beginning of the growing season and evaluated three months later.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Site characteristics

I established two study sites: one in a beech forest (Brånakollane, nature reserve, (59.1954, 10.0502) and one in the nearby spruce forest, outside the nature reserve (59.1890, 10.0436) (Figure 5). Both sites were situated about 20 km north of Larvik in Vestfold and Telemark County, in the boreonemoral bioclimatic zone. Other research projects were performed in the same nature reserve (Asplund et al., 2018; Ransedokken, 2016). The beech site at Brånakollane was established as a nature reserve in 1980 (Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, 1980). The nature reserve is protected as a natural and wild beech forest, together with its associated wildlife, insects, and soil fungi (Naturbase, 2022). While the beech forest has not been affected by forest logging or other forest activity since 1837, the spruce forests surrounding the beech forest are managed regularly (Ransedokken et al., 2019).

The general area belongs to the Oslo Rift geological bedrock, consisting of syenite, granite, and monzonite (Solli & Nordgulen, 2007). The specific study sites are on a monzonite bedrock covered with a thin layer of weathering material (NGU, 2022).



Figure 5: Map over the locations in Norway, Brånakollane in Larvik (marked with a drop). The two locations of beech (upper arrow) and spruce (lower arrow) are marked with arrows. The green boundaries represent nature reserves. Source: <u>www.norgeskart.no</u> (Norgeskart, 2022).

2.2 Vegetation description:

In the spruce forest the ground was covered with mosses like Splendid feather moss (*Hylocomium splendens*), Greater Feather wort (*Plagiochila asplenioides ssp. asplenioides*) and, also small plants like White wood sorrel (*Oxalis acetosella*) and Common polypody (*Polypodium vulgare*). During the field season the ground vegetation in the beech forest was sparse and mostly covered with beech leaves (Figure 6), and only some grasses, like Bunch grass (*Calamagrostis arundinacea*) (Naturbase, 2022).



Figure 6: Beech site vegetation and tree composition at Brånakollane. Photo: Julia F. Brendehaug

European beech is a shade-tolerant species, and forms a dense canopy, which produces a large amount of leaf litter while the extensive root system reaches from shallow to intermediate depths (Wühlisch, 2008). The evergreen, coniferous, Norway spruce is a shallow rooted, shade-tolerant species, but more light-demanding than beech. Its needle litter accumulates on soil surface and with time forms a thick organic layer (humus), creating soil conditions with low pH (Asplund et al., 2018) (Figure 4).

At both the sites the soil was stony, observed to increase at about 10 cm depth. It consisted of weathered rock with a thin layer of organic matter and mineral layers, which was also observed by Ransedokken (2016). Our soil cores were relatively shallow due to stoniness, reaching to about 20 cm depth (Table 1).

Site	Beech reserve	Spruce forest
Number of plots	3	3
Number of replicates at each plot	5	5
Longitude (°E)	59.1954	59.1954
Latitude (°N)	10.0502	10.0502
Elevation (m.a.s.l)	190	188
Number of soil cores topsoil and subsoil each)	15	15
Mean subsoil depth ± SD (cm)	13.5±4.50	13.9±3.56
Mean topsoil depth ± SD (cm)	3.3±1.6	6.3±1.8
Annual rainfall (mm)*	17.2	17.2
Mean precipitation (mm)*	7.5	7.5
Mean temperature	14	14.2
Organic Soil pH **	4.40	4.05

* Hedrum metrological station in Kvelde, Norway.

** Measured by Ransedokken (2016)

2.3 Sampling design

I selected three plots in the beech forest and three plots in the nearby spruce forest. Each plot was about 30 x 30 m in size and plots were about 50 m in distance from each other. Within each plot I selected 5 trees with approximately the same size and age; one tree in the center surrounded by 4 trees around it (3 plots with 15 trees in total for each site). At the southeast side of each selected tree, I took soil cores for fine root analysis. At the northwest side of each tree, I installed root meshes to estimate the fine root production.

I took soil cores about 1,5-2 m from the stem of each of the selected trees in beech and spruce sites; 30 soil cores in total from both sites, 15 in each. To take soil cores I used an auger (10 cm in diameter) and took a soil sample until I reached the solid bedrock. The soil core depths were ranging from 8-20 cm. I placed each soil core on a rounded tray and measured the depth of the whole core (Figure 7). Then I divided each core into topsoil and subsoil part, measured the length of each fraction and placed them into separate plastic bags (60 samples altogether: 30 from topsoil and 30 from subsoil). The bags were kept cool during transportation. In the lab, the soil cores were stored at -80 °C until further processing.



Figure 7: Field work with soil core extraction showing the different soil layers. Photo: Julia F. Brendehaug

2.4 Fine root extraction and scanning

To estimate fine root traits and biomass I thawed each soil core and extracted the fine roots from each soil core manually and by using water stream and soil sieve of 1 mm mesh size. All live tree roots < 2 mm in diameter were picked out. Tree roots were distinguished morphologically from those of understory vegetation and all dead or understory roots were discarded. Clean roots were kept in water at 4 °C until further scanning. Roots from each sample (60 samples altogether) were scanned for root characteristics/traits. I used a 400 dpi Epson Expression 800 transmitting light scanner. To scan the fine roots, I positioned all roots in water on a glass tray.

The images obtained from the scanner were analyzed by using the software WinRHIZO (Version 2013d, Regent Instruments, Quebec City, Canada). From the digitized images the number of fine roots, their length, diameter, and branching (number of root tips and forks) were obtained. Root tips

were recognized as all root endings, while forks were identified as points where three lines intersect. The data obtained from WinRHIZO were exported to an Excel spreadsheet for further analysis (Appendix A, table 7.2, 7.3). Based on the assumption that all the fine root tips were mycorrhizal, I used the data of number of fine root tips to estimate the mycorrhization level expressed as number of tips per unit soil area (tips/m²).

Forks, defined in the WinRHIZO software as root crossing of three lines (Richner et al., 2000; Smit et al., 2013), were also expressed as number of forks per unit soil area (forks/m²). To calculate the specific root length (SRL) the length of fine roots was divided by their biomass dry weight (dw), expressed as m/g. Specific root area (SRA) was calculated as root area/surface per root biomass dry weight (dw), expressed as cm²/g. After scanning, I gathered all roots from one sample, placed them in marked paper bags, dried them at 60 °C for 3 days, and weighed their dry matter biomass. Fine root biomass was expressed as biomass dry weight per unit soil area, g/m². Since all of fine roots were considered to be mycorrhizal and 50% of the biomass is carbon (Lukac & Godbold, 2010), I can estimate the mycorrhization level from number of root tips and carbon from the biomass fraction.

2.5 Fine root production

To estimate the fine root production at both sites during the vegetation period I installed one nylon mesh about 1.5-2 m from the trunk of each selected tree, at the north-west side, as described by Lukac & Godbold (2010) and Hirano et al. (2009). Briefly, each root-mesh (23 x 6 cm, with 1 mm2 mesh size) was inserted into the soil vertically by using a custom-made metal plate with a blunt edge. I coated the metal plate with a nylon mesh and used a rubber hammer to insert the mesh into the soil, retrieving the metal plate after the mesh insertion. At the beech site the meshes were installed on 28th of June 2021. In the spruce forest, the meshes were installed 16-18th of July 2021. All installed meshes were marked with colored sticks for better visibility at the retrieval timepoint. The meshes then remained in the soil for the whole vegetation period until September 2021. The fine roots entangled in the meshes during the vegetation period were considered as new roots produced during this period.

All meshes were removed from the soil on the 18th of September 2021. Each mesh was extracted from the soil by using a spade, leaving about 1 cm soil layer at each side. Fine roots trapped in the mesh, protruding 1 cm from the netting surface on each side, were included. Soil samples were then transported to the laboratory and stored at -80 °C until further analysis. To estimate the fine root production, all roots entangled into the meshes were picked out, cleaned, dried, and weighed (dw). Root production was calculated as weight of fine roots (dw) per soil area unit.

2.6 Statistical methods

Data from the two sites were analyzed in R (R Development Core Team 2011). The quantitative root traits and the nested mixed model were performed with the one way-variance analysis (ANOVA).

I performed linear mixed effect models to test for the effect of tree species (spruce vs. beech), soil layers (topsoil vs. subsoil) and their interaction on the quantitative root traits. In these models, soil cores (including both layers) nested within plot were used as random effects. Model assumptions were checked visually through residual diagnostics. In cases where residuals were not normally distributed, the response variable was either log- or square root-transformed (Appendix, figure 7.1-7.6). I used results from an ANOVA table to test (*F*- and *P*-values) for the linear mixed effect models, which were calculated using Satterthwaite's approximation of degrees of freedom.

Fine root production was not divided by layers and thus I instead performed a linear mixed effects model testing for the effect tree species only. Here, I also used soil core nested within plot as random effect. For this model, transformations of the response variable did not improve the distribution of the residuals. Therefore, I performed a permutation test for mixed effects models, with 1000 permutations, using the function perm. Imer in the R package permutes.

This provided the results of *F*- and *P*-values in an ANOVA-table (Table 2). I set the significance level to P < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1 Number of root tips – mycorrhization level

Beech had significantly more root tips (total mean n = 1.1 million tips/m²), than spruce (total mean n = 0.4 million tips/m²) (Figure 3.1, Table 2). This pattern was more pronounced in the topsoil, resulting in a significant interaction effect (Appendix, Figure 7.1). Beech had more root tips in the topsoil (mean n = 1.3 million tips/m²) compared to spruce topsoil (mean n = 0.4 million tips/m²) (Figure 3.1), as well as in subsoil (mean n = 0.9 million tips/m²vs. mean n = 0.4 million tips/m²) (Figure 3.1). I inspected the fine roots visually and almost 100% of all root tips was ectomycorrhizal.



Figure 3.1: Mean number fine root tips in spruce and beech forests measured in numbers of tips (n) per square meter soil (n/m^2) with standard error bars. Data table shows mean number of tips in beech and spruce in topsoil and subsoil.

3.2. Number of fine root forks – mycorrhization level

The total number of root forks was significantly higher in beech (total mean n = 3.9 million forks/m²) compared to spruce (total mean n = 1.1 million forks/m²) (Table 2, Figure 3.2). Overall, there were no difference between layers, but the tree species effect was even larger in the topsoil resulting in a significant interaction effect (Appendix, Figure 7.2). Beech had significantly more forks in both the topsoil (mean n = 2.5 million forks/m²) and subsoil (mean n = 1.4 million forks/m²), compared to spruce (Figure 3.2.).



Figure 3.2: Mean number of fine root forks in spruce and beech measured in numbers per square meter (forks/m²) with standard error bars. Data table shows mean number of forks in beech and spruce in topsoil and subsoil.

3.3 Specific root length (SRL)

Overall, beech and spruce did not differ in fine root length per dry weight root mass (total mean = 24 m/g and 16 m/g, respectively (Table 2, Figure 3.3). However, in the topsoil, beech had higher specific root length than spruce. Overall, the topsoils had longer roots per dry weight, but this effect was solely driven by beech, as shown by the significant interaction term (Appendix, Figure 7.3).



Figure 3.3: Specific root length (SL) measured in spruce and beech topsoil and subsoil in centimeters (cm) per grams (g) dry weight of fine root biomass with standard error bars. Data table shows mean specific root length in beech and spruce in topsoil and subsoil.

3.4 Fine root diameter

Overall, average fine root diameter was significantly larger in spruce (total mean = 1.21 mm) than in beech (total mean = 0.97) (Table 2, Figure 3.4). Furthermore, topsoils had overall significantly smaller diameters and both these patterns was driven by the thin roots in beech topsoils In the spruce forest there were no difference between layers, resulting in a significant interaction term (Appendix, Figure



Figure 3.4: Mean root diameter measured in spruce and beech topsoil and subsoil in millimeter (mm) with standard error bars. Data table shows mean root diameter in beech and spruce in topsoil and subsoil.

3.5 Specific root area (SRA)

I found no significant difference in SRA between beech (total mean = $5103 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$) and spruce (total mean = $4242 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$) (Figure 3.5, Table 2). Overall, topsoils had significantly higher specific root area, but this was only true for beech resulting in a significant interaction effect (Appendix, Figure 7.5).



Figure 3.5: Specific root area (SRA) measured in spruce and beech topsoil and subsoil in square centimeters (cm²) per gram (g) with standard error bars. Data table shows mean specific root area in beech and spruce topsoil and subsoil.

3.6 Fine root biomass

Overall, fine root biomass was significantly higher in beech (total mean = 367 g/m^2) compared with spruce (total mean = 662 g/m^2) (Figure 3.6). This pattern was most pronounced in the topsoil, which had a significantly higher biomass (Table 2). On the other hand, the fine root biomass in spruce topsoil (mean = 175 g/m^2) differed only little compared to the subsoil (mean = 192 g/m^2), resulting a significant interaction term (Appendix, Figure 7.6).



Figure 3.6: Mean biomass of fine roots in spruce and beech in topsoil and subsoil. Biomass is expressed in gram (g) per square meter (m2) root biomass dry weight with standard error bars. Data table shows mean fine root biomass in beech and spruce.

3.7 Fine root production

Fine root production was significantly higher in the beech forest (mean = 114 g/m^2) than in the spruce forest (mean = 45 g/m^2). In beech forest the fine root production was more than twice as high, as in the spruce forest (Table 2, Figure 3.7, Figure 7.7 in Appendix).



Figure 3.7: Mean fine root production in spruce and beech in grams (g) per square meter (m²). Data table shows mean fine root production in beech and spruce in topsoil and subsoil.

Table 2: Summary of linear mixed effect models (F and P-values) with block as a random factor testing for the effect of forest type (with dominant species, DS, beech vs. spruce) and soil layer (L, topsoil vs. subsoil) on fine root traits.

Root Characteristics	Dominant species (DS)	Layer (L)	L×DS
	F (P)	F (P)	F (P)
Fine root forks (n/m ²)*	49.86 (<0.001)	0.72 (0.401)	5.19 (0.027)
Fine root tips (n/m ²)*	53.76 (<0.001)	0.48 (0.491)	4.81 (0.033)
Specific root length (m/g) *	3.46 (0.138)	10.04 (0.003)	20.47 (<0.001)
Average fine root diameter (mm/m ²)*	9.94 (0.035)	5.84 (0.022)	18.06 (<0.001)
Specific root surface area (cm ² /g)*	0.89 (0.400)	10.55 (0.002)	17.62 (<0.001)
Fine root biomass (g/m2)*	10.73 (0.031)	7.45 (0.011)	4.75 (0.038)
Fine root production (g/m ²)*	2.86 (0.041)		

Values in bold are significant at P < 0.05

* = log transformed

The order of the other root traits presented is a consequence of the mapping order instrument WinRHIZO software gives in their output. In the software the fine root traits is given in an order from smaller root traits (tips and forks) to larger root traits (fine root biomass). The following root traits with soil core extraction are measured in this order; root length (m/g), root diameter(mm), root surface (cm²/g) and root biomass (g/m²). On the other hand, fine root production (g/m²) is given last, as it is measured with root meshes opposed to the other root traits.

4. Discussion

4.1 Number of tips and forks - mycorrhization level

The visual observation of cleaned fine roots from Norway spruce and European beech sites showed most of the fine roots, close to 100%, to be ectomycorrhizal. This agrees with other studies reporting on high mycorrhization level of fine roots in boreal forests, ranging from 90-100% (Børja & Nilsen, 2009; Helmisaari et al., 2009; Taylor et al., 2000) (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b).

In my study I only investigated indirect data on the presence of fungi in the roots (root tips), while the presence of external mycelium in the soil is not assessed here. Currently, we do not know how the amounts of external and internal mycelium within an ecosystem are related (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). However, it may be fair to assume, because the carbon and nutrient transfer takes place within fine roots, the root colonization intensity (number of mycorrhizal fine root tips) is probably a more direct predictor of mycorrhizal involvement in belowground carbon transfer processes than the extent of the external mycelium (Bever et al., 2010; Hoeksema et al., 2010; Veresoglou et al., 2012).

Branching, expressed as number of root tips or forks, indicates the mycorrhization level present (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). The number of root tips and forks are correlated, with the number of forks always being higher (Brunner et al., 2009). For example, in my study the total number of root forks was always higher in both spruce and beech than the total number of tips in spruce (0.7 million tips/m² in total) and beech (2.1 million tips/m²). This is a consequence of how the mapping instrument WinRHIZO software evaluates tips and forks. In the software the root tips are seen as all root endings, while forks are seen as where three lines meet in all fine root branching and root crossings (Richner et al., 2000). Therefore, the number of forks in the same material will always be higher than number of tips (Brunner et al., 2003; Brunner et al., 2009).

In a study on fine root tips in spruce forest in Finland, Helmisaari et al. (2009) detected somewhat higher mean numbers of root tips, ranging from 0.79 million tips/m² to 2.43 million tips/m², than in my study (0.7 million tips/m²). However, the values are still comparable when being done in boreal forests. Helmisaari et al. (2009) also reported a similar mean number of fine root tips (0.5 to 2 million tips/m²) in the topsoil (5-15 cm) of spruce compared to my study (mean = 0.4 million tips/m²) (Figure 3.1 & 3.2), which is in line with higher numbers in the topsoil compared to the subsoil. Børja et al. (2008) reported 0.3 million root tips/m² in spruce subsoil, which is also in line with my results. These results on root tips indicate higher numbers in the topsoil of spruce, which indirectly indicate more mycorrhization present in the topsoil of spruce, than in the subsoil.

In beech soil layers I found more root tips in the topsoil (mean= 1.3 million tips/m²) compared to the subsoil (mean = 0.9 million tips/m²) (Figure 3.1). Leuschner et al. (2004), who worked in temperate

beech forest, did however report on somewhat higher numbers of root tips (mean = 3 - 18 million tips/m²) in the entire soil profile. My results being similar in root tips (and forks) amounts compared to Leuschner et al. (2004), can indirectly assess the mycorrhization level present in beech.

Kirfel (2019), also from temperate beech forest, reported even higher numbers of tips, with more tips in subsoil than topsoil 25.5 and 17.5 million tips/m², respectively. The difference may be due to the sampling timepoints, but also the differences in geographical location: While my study was conducted at the site with the northernmost distribution of beech, the study by Kirfel is from the temperate forests, where beech has its optimal growth conditions (Kirfel et al., 2019).

The amount of mycorrhization has a significant effect on the shape of the root, and this could contribute to changes in carbon storage (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). My data on mean number of fine root tips, all considered to be mycorrhizal, show more mycorrhizal root tips in beech forest compared to spruce forest. Thus, indirectly the mycorrhization assess the carbon storing ability of the sites (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015a; Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). Therefore, the fine root trait of branching should be included to a higher degree in databases and C-models, to further improve their precision (Moore et al., 2015; Moore et al., 2020).

4.2 Specific root length (SRL)

Specific root length is probably the most frequently measured morphological parameter of fine roots (Ostonen et al., 2007b). SRL can be indicative of environmental changes and therefore SRL can be used successfully as an indicator of nutrient availability to trees. In my study the beech, with its higher SRL values, reflected the measure of the ability of roots to proliferate in the soil and take up nutrients. A higher SRL (i.e., thin roots) in beech allows rapid nutrient uptake per unit root mass and suggests higher efficiency in nutrient uptake, as compared to spruce (Schmid & Kazda, 2001). High specific root length can lead to thinner roots, which increases nutrient uptake, and also induces an efficient allocation of fine root biomass (Eissenstat & Yanai, 1997; Eissenstat et al., 2015).

The mean estimate of SRL has been reported to range from 1.4 to 196 m/g in different parts of the fine root system in different tree species (Ostonen et al., 2007b). For spruce, my data is similar to those reported by Børja et al (2008) where SLR ranged from mean = 13.4 to 19.8 m/g in spruce forests in SE Norway. While the SRL in spruce did not differ significantly among the topsoil and subsoil in my study (7.7 vs. 8.4 m/g, respectively), the SRL in beech was significantly higher in the topsoil compared to subsoil (16.4 vs. 8.0 m/g, respectively). Kirfel et al. (2019) also found longer SRL in beech topsoil (mean = 13 m/g) than in beech subsoil (mean = 6 m/g), which agrees with my data. Consequently, long, thin fine roots, often associated with mycorrhizal fungi (Pregitzer, 2002), may also indicate a larger capacity for carbon storage in beech (Kirfel et al., 2019), compared to spruce.

The SRL per fine root biomass can indirectly weight in the amount of mycorrhization, and thus their contribution to carbon storage (Bauhus & Messier, 1999; Ostonen et al., 2007b).

4.3 Fine root diameter

Although fine roots are generally quantified based on their diameter, with the common upper diameter limit being < 2 mm (Vogt et al., 1986), this limit is purely mechanical and practical, but does not reflect the physiological function of the roots. There has been a discussion about using this limit because roots < 2 mm in diameter may also include lignified conducting roots with little or no role in the absorption of nutrients and water, and do not become mycorrhizal (Pregitzer, 2002). Pregitzer et al. (2002) suggested classifying fine roots rather based on their branching order than diameter, with root tips being classified as first-order roots (Guo et al., 2004). Pregitzer et al. (2002) and Guo et al. (2004) reported fine root diameter to decrease with decreasing root order.

In my study, spruce fine roots had larger mean diameter (0.6 mm in both soil layers) than fine roots of beech with 0.4 and 0.6 mm in topsoil and subsoil, respectively. Although I extracted from the soil samples all fine roots with diameter less than 2 mm, majority of the fine roots had diameter less than 1 mm. In comparison, according to Guo et al. (2004) the first-order roots (root tips) of *Pinus palustris* had a mean diameter of 0.35 mm. Bauhaus and Messier (1999) reported only small differences (mean values of 0.24–0.34 mm) in the diameters of fine roots of *Abies balsamea* and *Picea glauca* (Bauhus & Messier, 1999). The mean diameter of Norway spruce and Scots pine fine roots in Estonian and Finnish stands varied from 0.3–0.5 mm (Ostonen et al., 2007a), with all of them being < 1 mm in diameter. In fact, majority of fine roots in boreal forests seem to be < 1 mm in diameter (Ostonen et al., 2005; Persson, 1978), which is in agreement with my measurements. Consequently, nutrient uptake and carbon storage studies, separating roots < 1 mm in diameter and their ECM short root tips from other fine roots, could be functionally the most meaningful classification of the fine root system in boreal forests (Pregitzer, 2002).

4.4. Specific root area (SRA)

I found higher total SRA in beech (total mean = $5103 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$) than in spruce (total mean = $4242 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$) for the entire soil profile, but the differences among species were not significant (Table 2). While some studies support my results and report on higher SRA values in beech compared to spruce (Jackson et al., 1997), others report the opposite tendency (Helmisaari et al., 2009). These contradicting results may reflect the different geographical and soil conditions.

At the root level, trees can increase root surface area by producing thinner roots which have a larger specific surface area (surface area per unit mass) at a given investment of carbon (Leuschner et al., 2004). Thus, water and nutrient uptake per unit root mass will also be higher at a larger SRA (Freschet

et al., 2021a). Furthermore, uptake rates of nutrients and water may depend on other associated root traits, such as the number of mycorrhizal root tips per root mass. As higher SRA means higher potential for establishment of ectomycorrhiza (Kirfel et al., 2019), beech with its higher SRA values can therefore indirectly store higher amount of carbon and nutrients and water compared to spruce.

The extent of SRA may be indicative of the capacity of the fine roots to accommodate the ectomycorrhizal fungi, which in turn absorb carbon from the tree (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). A higher SRA gives the fungi more space to attach on the root surface area, which can increase the amount of biomass and carbon allocated to fine roots (Smith & Read, 2008). An increase in carbon storage is possible due to the abilities of ectomycorrhizal fungi to colonize fine roots (Helmisaari et al., 2009; Ostonen et al., 2007a). Therefore, a higher SRA in beech could indicate more carbon stored in the soil, due to more available root surface area for mycorrhization, compared to spruce with a lower SRA.

The mean estimates of all assessed fine root traits in this study (number of root tips and forks, SRL, SRA) in beech forest were always significantly higher in the topsoil than in subsoil. On the other hand, for spruce roots I did not observe any significant differences in the same traits among the soil layers. My soil samples did not contain the entire rooting depth of the trees, because of the stony bedrock, and therefore the amount of fine roots in both species may be underestimated, which is also seen in other studies by Finér et al. (2007). Moreover, another limitation which may have impacted the result is in measuring root traits I did not include environmental conditions such has pH, stoniness, and tree age, however, I used numbers from Ransedokken (2016).

4.5 Fine root biomass

I found almost twice as high fine root biomass in beech (total mean 662 g/m²) than in spruce. A review study of Finer et al. (2011a), based on data from 517 forest stands across the world, which estimated fine root biomass as 526 ± 321 g/m² and 775 ± 474 g/m² in boreal and temperate forests, respectively, agrees with my results. Another review from Finér et al. (2007), also found a higher amount of fine root biomass in beech (mean = 389 g/m²) compared to spruce (mean = 294 g/m²). Thus, my results showing higher root biomass in beech compared to spruce are supported in previous literature.

I detected in the entire spruce profile (topsoil and subsoil) a total mean of 367 g/m², which is similar to results from spruce stands in SE Norway, where the mean fine root biomass ranged from 49 to 398 g/m² (Børja et al., 2008). In addition, Ostonen et al. (2013) found mean fine root biomass in spruce and pine in Estonia ranging from 120 - 935 g/m² in the finest roots (<1 mm), and Lukac & Godbold (2010) found mean fine root biomass in spruce of 914 g/m² in the entire sampled soil profile, which is in line with my results. My results support the previous studies on spruce generated from boreal

forests. In boreal forests spruce are studied extensively compared to beech, whereas in temperate forests beech are studied much more frequently than at Northern latitudes.

Fine root biomass in beech stands in central Europe ranged between 320 and 470 g/m² (Leuschner et al., 2004), which is at somewhat lower values than in our study. However, the different environmental factors, especially drought, are reported to strongly influence the beech fine root biomass (Leuschner et al., 2004). Moreover, my results have higher fine root biomass in beech subsoil, compared to the topsoil (Figure 3.6). Konôpka (2009) also found higher beech fine root biomass in the subsoil (mean = 360 g/m^2) than in the topsoil (mean = 250 g/m^2) which is also in agreement with my data, although being lower. The lower values in my study could also be due to different geographical locations: I did my study in boreal forests, where beech has a temperature disadvantage compared to spruce and other beech forests in temperate forests.

Although I did not quantify the ECM mycelia in this study, the results of Wallander (2001) et al. (2001) and Nilsson et al., (2005) suggested ECM mycelial biomass and production to be strongly correlated with tree fine root biomass. Their statement agrees with the interaction pattern found in my results on root biomass (Table 2). According to Karst et al. (2008) the biomass of trees with mycorrhized fine roots can indirectly be considered as 50% carbon. This suggests plant biomass of an individual plant species indirectly indicate the amount of carbon stored in their fine roots less than < 1 mm (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b).Therefore, it may be fair to assume increasing fine root biomass to lead to increased mycorrhization and therefore to increased carbon storage in soils.

4.6. Fine root production

In my study the production of fine roots in beech was more than twice as large (mean = 114 g/m^2) than in the spruce forest (mean= 45 g/m^2). Lukac & Godbold (2010) study in temperate forests reported a mean root production in spruce of 70 g/m². They measured fine root production with root meshes and used an incubation time of one year, which gave them higher results (mean = 70 g/m^2), compared to my estimates (mean = 45 g/m^2). However, this difference is logical when taking my short incubation time of three months compared to one year of their study into consideration.

To measure the fine root production, I used the method of nylon meshes embedded in the soil during the vegetation period. By using meshes, the number of fine roots protruding through the meshes was assessed by the naked eye, and roots were easily extracted from the meshes for further estimation of fine root production. If only a rapid comparison of root production under contrasting treatments or conditions is needed, the mesh method can be used in the forest to take fine root production samples (Lukac & Godbold, 2010). Nevertheless, this method has its limitations, as it may cause differential thickening of fine roots once they have grown through the mesh and the cutting of roots when it is placed into the soil (Hirano et al., 2009; Lukac & Godbold, 2010).

Some previous studies have lower fine root production results than mine, which could be due to the measurements of fine root production being done with meshes instead of ingrowth cores. For example, Ostonen et al. (2013) also showed a higher root production (mean = 182.87 g/cm^2) than my study in spruce. The author used soil ingrowth cores and sequential coring, methods different to mine, which may be the cause of the result discrepancy. The ingrowth cores can often give lower quantifications than root meshes, due to their cylindrical form changing the nutrient and water availability within the core (Hirano et al., 2009). Therefore, more knowledge is needed to understand the measurement advantages and disadvantages of root meshes and ingrowth cores.

It was difficult to compare our fine root production data to other studies, because of the different timespans, used for incubation either of meshes or ingrowth cores. While my meshes were embedded in the soil for three moths only, other studies often report values for at least the whole year, where fine roots had longer time to establish and grow (Lukac & Godbold, 2010). Such a limited soil sampling and timespan may have favored the growth of fine roots in the deciduous beech forests, due to the shorter growing season for spruce forests (McCormack et al., 2015).

4.7 Future research

To my knowledge, currently, there are no data on mycorrhization level and fine root traits included in models for calculating/predicting of carbon storage in forest soils. Although several databases on root traits already exist (Kattge et al., 2011), the data are not implemented in the models.

Fine roots and ectomycorrhiza quantification could be beneficial for the predicting power of C-models (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b), due to their crucial role in C cycle. Root biomass and mycorrhization level (number of fine root tips) may contribute to improving the models used for predicting the future C sequestration in forest soils (Kattge et al., 2011; Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015a). Fine root biomass and the number of fine root tips are therefore indirect indicators of each species-specific contribution to belowground carbon storage (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). In addition, my data on root traits may be used to find out how plants respond to environmental factors (drought, nutrient status), or influence ecosystem processes and services (carbon sequestration) (Kattge et al., 2011).

My study, because it was conducted only once and the production was measured during one vegetation period, may be considered as a "snapshot" of the root traits, describing the situation at the given time and place, but unable to describe the dynamics over time. Long term studies are in the position to help with this uncertainty (Finér et al., 2011a; Freschet et al., 2021b). Firstly, in order to see the effects of fine root biomass and carbon storage it would be helpful to include fine root traits in modeling of carbon belowground (Finér et al., 2011a). Secondly, it would be useful to understand better the relationship between fine root traits and carbon storage in both deciduous and conifer species (Finér et al., 2007). An approach such as this could improve the quantification when measuring carbon pools across different ecosystems (Soudzilovskaia et al., 2015b). Thirdly, the belowground measurements must be conducted over a longer time to capture the dynamic changes (Finér et al., 2011b), to come up with suggestions on how beech and spruce forests may help mitigate the effects of climate change (Finér et al., 2007).

5. Conclusions

I here provide a quantitative comparison among the root traits in beech and spruce forests, related to belowground carbon sequestration. My results on amounts of root tips (and forks) in spruce and beech forests can be used to indirectly assess the mycorrhization level, and thus indicate the carbon storing ability of the sites. The results indirectly indicate beech forest potential to storage more carbon than spruce. To summarize, I suggest that beech, which have a higher amounts of fine root tips (mycorrhization level), higher fine root biomass and production compared to spruce, may potentially contribute to higher amounts of belowground carbon. More research is needed to test if these results can be generalized to wider forest ecosystems.

6. References

- Asplund, J., Kauserud, H., Bokhorst, S., Lie, M. H., Ohlson, M. & Nybakken, L. (2018). Fungal communities influence decomposition rates of plant litter from two dominant tree species. *Fungal Ecology*, 32: 1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2017.11.003.
- Batjes, N. H. (1996). Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. *European journal of soil science*, 47 (2): 151-163. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2389.1996.tb01386.x.
- Bauhus, J. & Messier, C. (1999). Evaluation of fine root length and diameter measurements obtained using RHIZO image analysis. *Agronomy Journal*, 91 (1): 142-147. doi: 10.2134/agronj1999.00021962009100010022x.
- Bever, J. D., Dickie, I. A., Facelli, E., Facelli, J. M., Klironomos, J., Moora, M., Rillig, M. C., Stock, W. D., Tibbett, M. & Zobel, M. (2010). Rooting theories of plant community ecology in microbial interactions. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 25 (8): 468-478. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2010.05.004.
- Bolte, A., Rahmann, T., Kuhr, M., Pogoda, P., Murach, D. & Gadow, K. v. (2004). Relationships between tree dimension and coarse root biomass in mixed stands of European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) and Norway spruce (Picea abies [L.] Karst.). *Plant and Soil*, 264 (1): 1-11. doi: 10.1023/B:PLSO.0000047777.23344.a3.
- Brundrett, M. C. (2002). Coevolution of roots and mycorrhizas of land plants. *New phytologist*, 154 (2): 275-304. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00397.x.
- Brunner, I., Genenger, M., Zimmermann, S., Hallenbarter, D., Landolt, W. & Frossard, E. (2003). Fine root growth and element concentrations of Norway spruce as affected by wood ash and liquid fertilisation. In *Roots: The Dynamic Interface between Plants and the Earth*, pp. 253-264: Springer.
- Brunner, I., Pannatier, E. G., Frey, B., Rigling, A., Landolt, W., Zimmermann, S. & Dobbertin, M. (2009). Morphological and physiological responses of Scots pine fine roots to water supply in a dry climatic region in Switzerland. *Tree Physiology*, 29 (4): 541-550. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpn046.
- Børja, I., De Wit, H. A., Steffenrem, A. & Majdi, H. (2008). Stand age and fine root biomass, distribution and morphology in a Norway spruce chronosequence in southeast Norway. *Tree physiology*, 28 (5): 773-784. doi: 10.1093/treephys/28.5.773.
- Børja, I. & Nilsen, P. (2009). Long term effect of liming and fertilization on ectomycorrhizal colonization and tree growth in old Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) stands. *Plant and Soil*, 314 (1): 109-119. doi: 10.1007/s11104-008-9710-5.
- Clemmensen, K., Bahr, A., Ovaskainen, O., Dahlberg, A., Ekblad, A., Wallander, H., Stenlid, J., Finlay, R.,
 Wardle, D. & Lindahl, B. (2013). Roots and associated fungi drive long-term carbon sequestration in boreal forest. *Science*, 339 (6127): 1615-1618. doi: 10.1126/vitenskap.1231923.
- Cornelissen, J., Lavorel, S., Garnier, E., Díaz, S., Buchmann, N., Gurvich, D., Reich, P., Ter Steege, H., Morgan, H. & Van Der Heijden, M. (2003). A handbook of protocols for standardised and easy measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian journal of Botany*, 51 (4): 335-380. doi: 10.1071/BT02124.
- de Vries, W., Solberg, S., Dobbertin, M., Sterba, H., Laubhann, D., Van Oijen, M., Evans, C., Gundersen, P., Kros, J. & Wamelink, G. (2009). The impact of nitrogen deposition on carbon sequestration by

European forests and heathlands. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258 (8): 1814-1823. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2009.02.034.

- Deans, J. (1981). Dynamics of coarse root production in a young plantation of Picea sitchensis. *Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research*, 54 (2): 139-155. doi: 10.1093/forestry/54.2.139.
- Eissenstat, D. & Yanai, R. (1997). The ecology of root lifespan. In M. Begon, A. H. F. (ed.) vol. 27 Advances in ecological research, pp. 1-60: Elsevier.
- Eissenstat, D. M., Kucharski, J. M., Zadworny, M., Adams, T. S. & Koide, R. T. (2015). Linking root traits to nutrient foraging in arbuscular mycorrhizal trees in a temperate forest. *New Phytologist*, 208 (1): 114-124. doi: 10.1111/nph.13451.
- Ekblad, A., Wallander, H., Godbold, D. L., Cruz, C., Johnson, D., Baldrian, P., Björk, R., Epron, D.,
 Kieliszewska-Rokicka, B. & Kjøller, R. (2013). The production and turnover of extramatrical mycelium of ectomycorrhizal fungi in forest soils: role in carbon cycling. *Plant and Soil*, 366 (1): 1-27.
- Finér, L., Helmisaari, H.-S., Lõhmus, K., Majdi, H., Brunner, I., Børja, I., Eldhuset, T., Godbold, D., Grebenc, T. & Konôpka, B. (2007). Variation in fine root biomass of three European tree species: Beech (Fagus sylvatica L.), Norway spruce (Picea abies L. Karst.), and Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.). *Plant Biosystems*, 141 (3): 394-405. doi: 10,1080/11263500701625897.
- Finér, L., Ohashi, M., Noguchi, K. & Hirano, Y. (2011a). Factors causing variation in fine root biomass in forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 261 (2): 265-277. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2010.10.016.
- Finér, L., Ohashi, M., Noguchi, K. & Hirano, Y. (2011b). Fine root production and turnover in forest ecosystems in relation to stand and environmental characteristics. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 262 (11): 2008-2023. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.08.042.
- Freschet, G. T., Pagès, L., Iversen, C. M., Comas, L. H., Rewald, B., Roumet, C., Klimešová, J., Zadworny, M., Poorter, H. & Postma, J. A. (2021a). A starting guide to root ecology: strengthening ecological concepts and standardising root classification, sampling, processing and trait measurements. *New Phytologist*, 232 (3): 973-1122. doi: 10.1111/nph.17572.
- Freschet, G. T., Roumet, C., Comas, L. H., Weemstra, M., Bengough, A. G., Rewald, B., Bardgett, R. D., De Deyn, G. B., Johnson, D. & Klimešová, J. (2021b). Root traits as drivers of plant and ecosystem functioning: current understanding, pitfalls and future research needs. *New Phytologist*, 232 (3): 1123-1158. doi: 10.1111/nph.17072.
- Gower, S., Vogel, J., Norman, J., Kucharik, C., Steele, S. & Stow, T. (1997). Carbon distribution and aboveground net primary production in aspen, jack pine, and black spruce stands in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, Canada. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 102 (24): 29-41. doi: 10.1029/97JD02317.
- Guo, D. L., Mitchell, R. J. & Hendricks, J. J. (2004). Fine root branch orders respond differentially to carbon source-sink manipulations in a longleaf pine forest. *Oecologia*, 140 (3): 450-457. doi: 10.1007/s00442-004-1596-1.
- Guo, L., Chen, J., Cui, X., Fan, B. & Lin, H. (2013). Application of ground penetrating radar for coarse root detection and quantification: a review. *Plant and soil*, 362 (1): 1-23. doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1455-5.

- Helmisaari, H.-S., Ostonen, I., Lõhmus, K., Derome, J., Lindroos, A.-J., Merilä, P. & Nöjd, P. (2009).
 Ectomycorrhizal root tips in relation to site and stand characteristics in Norway spruce and Scots pine stands in boreal forests. *Tree Physiology*, 29 (3): 445-456. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpn042.
- Hessen, D. O., Ågren, G. I., Anderson, T. R., Elser, J. J. & De Ruiter, P. C. (2004). Carbon sequestration in ecosystems: the role of stoichiometry. *Ecology*, 85 (5): 1179-1192. doi: 10.1890/02-0251.
- Hickler, T., Vohland, K., Feehan, J., Miller, P. A., Smith, B., Costa, L., Giesecke, T., Fronzek, S., Carter, T. R.
 & Cramer, W. (2012). Projecting the future distribution of European potential natural vegetation zones with a generalized, tree species-based dynamic vegetation model. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21 (1): 50-63. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00613.x.
- Hirano, Y., Noguchi, K., Ohashi, M., Hishi, T., Makita, N., Fujii, S. & Finér, L. (2009). A new method for placing and lifting root meshes for estimating fine root production in forest ecosystems. *Plant Root*, 3: 26-31. doi: 10.1007/s00468-015-1308-y.
- Hoeksema, J. D., Chaudhary, V. B., Gehring, C. A., Johnson, N. C., Karst, J., Koide, R. T., Pringle, A., Zabinski, C., Bever, J. D. & Moore, J. C. (2010). A meta-analysis of context-dependency in plant response to inoculation with mycorrhizal fungi. *Ecology letters*, 13 (3): 394-407. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01430.x.
- Jackson, R. B., Mooney, H. A. & Schulze, E.-D. (1997). A global budget for fine root biomass, surface area, and nutrient contents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94 (14): 7362-7366. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 94. 14.7362.
- Jumpponen, A., Trowbridge, J., Mandyam, K. & Johnson, L. (2005). Nitrogen enrichment causes minimal changes in arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization but shifts community composition—evidence from rDNA data. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 41 (4): 217-224. doi: 10.1007/s00374-005-0845-8.
- Karst, J., Marczak, L., Jones, M. D. & Turkington, R. (2008). The mutualism-parasitism continuum in ectomycorrhizas: a quantitative assessment using meta-analysis. *Ecology*, 89 (4): 1032-1042.
- Kattge, J., Diaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I. C., Leadley, P., Bönisch, G., Garnier, E., Westoby, M., Reich, P. B.
 & Wright, I. J. (2011). TRY–a global database of plant traits. *Global change biology*, 17 (9): 2905-2935.
- Kirfel, K., Heinze, S., Hertel, D. & Leuschner, C. (2019). Effects of bedrock type and soil chemistry on the fine roots of European beech–A study on the belowground plasticity of trees. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 444: 256-268. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco. 2019.04.022.
- Konôpka, B. (2009). Differences in fine root traits between Norway spruce (Picea abies [L.] Karst.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.)–A case study in the Kysucké Beskydy Mts. *Journal of forest Science*, 55 (12): 556-566.
- Kyaschenko, J., Clemmensen, K. E., Karltun, E. & Lindahl, B. D. (2017). Below-ground organic matter accumulation along a boreal forest fertility gradient relates to guild interaction within fungal communities. *Ecology letters*, 20 (12): 1546-1555. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco. 2019.04.022.
- Leuschner, C., Hertel, D., Schmid, I., Koch, O., Muhs, A. & Hölscher, D. (2004). Stand fine root biomass and fine root morphology in old-growth beech forests as a function of precipitation and soil fertility. *Plant and Soil*, 258 (1): 43-56.

- Lukac, M. & Godbold, D. L. (2010). Fine root biomass and turnover in southern taiga estimated by root inclusion nets. *Plant and soil*, 331 (1): 505-513. doi: 10.1007/s11104-009-0271-z.
- Ma, S., He, F., Tian, D., Zou, D., Yan, Z., Yang, Y., Zhou, T., Huang, K., Shen, H. & Fang, J. (2018). Variations and determinants of carbon content in plants: a global synthesis. *Biogeosciences*, 15 (3): 693-702. doi: 10.5194/bg-15-693-2018, 2018.
- Maherali, H., Oberle, B., Stevens, P. F., Cornwell, W. K. & McGlinn, D. J. (2016). Mutualism persistence and abandonment during the evolution of the mycorrhizal symbiosis. *The American Naturalist*, 188 (5): E113-E125. doi: 10,1086/688675.
- McCormack, M. L., Gaines, K. P., Pastore, M. & Eissenstat, D. M. (2015). Early season root production in relation to leaf production among six diverse temperate tree species. *Plant and Soil*, 389 (1): 121-129.
- Meier, I. C., Brunner, I., Godbold, D. L., Helmisaari, H.-S., Ostonen, I., Soudzilovskaia, N. A. & Prescott, C. E. (2018). Roots and rhizospheres in forest ecosystems: Recent advances and future challenges. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 431: 1-5. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco. 2018.08.005.
- Moen, A. & Lillethun, A. (1999). National atlas of Norway: vegetation: Norwegian mapping authority.
- Moore, J., Jiang, J., Post, W. & Classen, A. T. (2015). Decomposition by ectomycorrhizal fungi alters soil carbon storage in a simulation model. *Ecosphere*, 6 (3): 1-16. doi: 10.1890/ES14-00301.1.
- Moore, J. A., Sulman, B. N., Mayes, M. A., Patterson, C. M. & Classen, A. T. (2020). Plant roots stimulate the decomposition of complex, but not simple, soil carbon. *Functional Ecology*, 34 (4): 899-910.
- Myking, T., Yakovlev, I. & Ersland, G. A. (2011). Nuclear genetic markers indicate Danish origin of the Norwegian beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) populations established in 500–1,000 AD. *Tree genetics & genomes*, 7 (3): 587-596. doi: 10.1007/s11295-010-0358-y.
- Myking, T. (2020). *Bøk en kulturvekst?* Webpage. NIBIO, Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research Available at: https://www.nibio.no/tema/skog/skoggenetiske-ressurser/treslag-i-norge/b%C3%B8k (accessed: 06.03.2022).
- Naturbase. (2022). *Brånakollane naturreservat*. Faktaark. Available at: https://faktaark.naturbase.no/?id=VV00001139 (accessed: 19.10.2022).
- NGU. (2022). *Berggrunn Nasjonal berggrunnsdatabase*. Trondheim: Geological Survey of Norway. Available at: https://geo.ngu.no/kart/berggrunn_mobil/ (accessed: 19.06.2022).
- Nilsson, L. O., Giesler, R., Bååth, E. & Wallander, H. (2005). Growth and biomass of mycorrhizal mycelia in coniferous forests along short natural nutrient gradients. *New Phytologist*, 165 (2): 613-622. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01223.x.
- Norgeskart. (2022). Map. Trondheim: Geological Survey of Norway. Available at: https://norgeskart.no (accessed: 04.10.2022).
- Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment. (1980). *Forskrift om fredning for Brånakollene Naturreservat*. Hedrum municipality. Vestfold.
- Ostonen, I., Lõhmus, K. & Pajuste, K. (2005). Fine root biomass, production and its proportion of NPP in a fertile middle-aged Norway spruce forest: comparison of soil core and ingrowth core methods. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 212 (1-3): 264-277. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco. 2005.03.064.

- Ostonen, I., Lõhmus, K., Helmisaari, H.-S., Truu, J. & Meel, S. (2007a). Fine root morphological adaptations in Scots pine, Norway spruce and silver birch along a latitudinal gradient in boreal forests. *Tree Physiology*, 27 (11): 1627-1634. doi: 10.1093/treephys/27.11.1627.
- Ostonen, I., Püttsepp, Ü., Biel, C., Alberton, O., Bakker, M., Lõhmus, K., Majdi, H., Metcalfe, D., Olsthoorn, A. & Pronk, A. (2007b). Specific root length as an indicator of environmental change. *Plant Biosystems*, 141 (3): 426-442. doi: 10,1080/11263500701626069.
- Ostonen, I., Rosenvald, K., Helmisaari, H.-S., Godbold, D., Parts, K., Uri, V. & Lõhmus, K. (2013).
 Morphological plasticity of ectomycorrhizal short roots in Betula sp and Picea abies forests across climate and forest succession gradients: Its role in changing environments. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4 (335). doi: 10.3389/fpls. 2013.00335.
- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R. A., Fang, J., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P. E., Kurz, W. A., Phillips, O. L., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S. L. & Canadell, J. G. (2011). A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. *Science*, 333 (6045): 988-993. doi: 10.1126/vitenskap.1201609.
- Persson, H. (1978). Root dynamics in a young Scots pine stand in Central Sweden. *Oikos*: 508-519. doi: 10,2307/3543346.
- Persson, H. A. (2002). Root systems of arboreal plants. In Waisel Y., E. A., Beeckman T., Kafkafi U. (ed.) *Plant Roots*, pp. 315-341. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Pregitzer, K. S. (2002). Fine roots of trees: a new perspective. *The New Phytologist*, 154 (2): 267-270. doi: 10.1046/j.1469-8137. 2002.00413_1.x.
- Ransedokken, Y. (2016). *Challenging conventional carbon wisdom: a climate driven vegetation shift from spruce to beech may not change the size of the carbon pool in southeast Norwegian forest soils*. Master thesis: Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås.
- Ransedokken, Y., Asplund, J., Ohlson, M. & Nybakken, L. (2019). Vertical distribution of soil carbon in boreal forest under European beech and Norway spruce. *European Journal of Forest Research*, 138 (2): 353-361. doi: 10.1007/s10342-019-01176-4.
- Richner, W., Liedgens, M., Bürgi, H., Soldati, A. & Stamp, P. (2000). Root image analysis and interpretation. In Smit, A. L., Bengough, A. G., Engels, C., van Noordwijk, M., Pellerin, S. & van de Geijn, S. C. (eds) *Root methods*, pp. 305-341. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer.
- Schmid, I. & Kazda, M. (2001). Vertical distribution and radial growth of coarse roots in pure and mixed stands of Fagus sylvatica and Picea abies. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 31 (3): 539 - 548. doi: 10.1139/x00-195.
- Smit, A. L., Bengough, A. G., Engels, C., van Noordwijk, M., Pellerin, S. & van de Geijn, S. C. (2013). Root methods: a handbook. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer
- Smith, S. E. & Read, D. J. (2008). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. 3rd ed. Amsterdam: Academic press.
- Solli, A. & Nordgulen, Ø. (2007). Berggrunnskart over Norge og kaledonidene i Sverige og Finland–M1: 2 000 000, 2007. Trondheim.
- Soudzilovskaia, N. A., Douma, J. C., Akhmetzhanova, A. A., van Bodegom, P. M., Cornwell, W. K., Moens, E. J., Treseder, K. K., Tibbett, M., Wang, Y. P. & Cornelissen, J. H. (2015a). Global patterns of plant root colonization intensity by mycorrhizal fungi explained by climate and soil chemistry. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 24 (3): 371-382.

- Soudzilovskaia, N. A., van der Heijden, M. G., Cornelissen, J. H., Makarov, M. I., Onipchenko, V. G., Maslov, M. N., Akhmetzhanova, A. A. & van Bodegom, P. M. (2015b). Quantitative assessment of the differential impacts of arbuscular and ectomycorrhiza on soil carbon cycling. *New Phytologist*, 208 (1): 280-293. doi: 10.1111/født 12272.
- Staddon, P. L., Fitter, A. H. & Graves, J. D. (1999). Effect of elevated atmospheric CO2 on mycorrhizal colonization, external mycorrhizal hyphal production and phosphorus inflow in Plantago lanceolata and Trifolium repens in association with the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus mosseae. *Global Change Biology*, 5 (3): 347-358. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2486.1999.00230.x.
- Taylor, A. F. (2002). Fungal diversity in ectomycorrhizal communities: sampling effort and species detection. In Smith, S. E., Smith, F.A. (ed.) Developments in Plant and Soil Sciences, vol. 94 *Diversity and integration in Mycorrhizas*, pp. 19-28. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Taylor, A. F. S., Martin, F. & Read, D. J. (2000). Fungal diversity in ectomycorrhizal communities of Norway spruce [Picea abies (L.) Karst.] and beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) along north-south transects in Europe. In ED., S. (ed.) Ecological Studies, vol. 142 *Carbon and nitrogen cycling in European forest ecosystems*, pp. 343-365. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Valladares, F., Gianoli, E. & Gómez, J. M. (2007). Ecological limits to plant phenotypic plasticity. *New phytologist*, 176 (4): 749-763. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02275.x.
- Verbruggen, E., Jansa, J., Hammer, E. C. & Rillig, M. C. (2016). Do arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi stabilize litter-derived carbon in soil? *Journal of Ecology*, 104 (1): 261-269. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.12496.
- Veresoglou, S. D., Chen, B. & Rillig, M. C. (2012). Arbuscular mycorrhiza and soil nitrogen cycling. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 46: 53-62. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.11.018.
- Violle, C., Navas, M. L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I. & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos*, 116 (5): 882-892. doi: 10.1111/j.2007.0030-1299.15559.x.
- Vogt, K. A., Grier, C. C. & Vogt, D. (1986). Production, turnover, and nutrient dynamics of above-and belowground detritus of world forests. In MacFadyen A., F. E. D. (ed.) vol. 15 Advances in ecological research, pp. 303-377. United Kingdom, London: Elsevier.
- Vogt, K. A., Vogt, D. J. & Bloomfield, J. (1998). Analysis of some direct and indirect methods for estimating root biomass and production of forests at an ecosystem level. In Box, J. E. (ed.) Developments in Plant and Soil Sciences, vol. 82 *Root demographics and their efficiencies in sustainable agriculture,* grasslands and forest ecosystems, pp. 687-720. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Wallander, H., Nilsson, L. O., Hagerberg, D. & Bååth, E. (2001). Estimation of the biomass and seasonal growth of external mycelium of ectomycorrhizal fungi in the field. *New Phytologist*, 151 (3): 753-760. doi: 10.1046/j.0028-646x.2001.00199.x.
- Wilson, A. W., Hosaka, K. & Mueller, G. M. (2017). Evolution of ectomycorrhizas as a driver of diversification and biogeographic patterns in the model mycorrhizal mushroom genus Laccaria. *New Phytologist*, 213 (4): 1862-1873. doi: 10.1111/nph.14270.
- Wühlisch, G. v. (2008). European beech (Fagus sylvatica). PDF. EUFORGEN Technical Guidelines for Genetic Conservation and Use. Available at: https://www.euforgen.org/fileadmin//templates/euforgen.org/upload/Publications/Technical_guidelines/ Technical_guidelines_Fagus_sylvatica.pdf (accessed: 03.10.2022).

7. Appendix

Table 7.1: Overview over fine root traits and measurements. All definitions are modified from the Freschet et al., (2021 a).

Fine root traits overview	Description
Root	An axis made by one sub-apical meristem and an anatomical structure distinct from other plant organs. It usually has a monopodial structure, but by extension it can have a sympodial construction when it is made by successive equivalent meristems.
Fine root	Root with a relatively small diameter, often operationally defined as all roots ≤ 2 mm in diameter, though other diameter thresholds are used as well. These roots are generally lacking a lignified structure and are expected to be more active in resource acquisition than coarse roots.
Mycorrhizal root:	Roots forming a symbiotic association with a fungus; most frequently used for ectomycorrhizal root forming a hyphal mantle.
Root tip:	Apical portion of the root includes the root apical meristem (and root cap).
Root tips and forks	Considered to vary among different trees within the same species. Have a strong impact on the mycorrhizal hyphae distribution. Usually about 98% of all fine root tips are mycorrhizal.
Specific root length (SRL)	Reflects the potential of fine roots to explore the soil in the search and acquisition of water and nutrients. One of the most studied root traits, high relevance for ecosystem functioning.
Root diameter	Technically, roots are defined as fine roots if their diameter is < 2 mm. Root diameter is used when calculating other traits, such as root volume or root surface area.
Specific root area (SRA)	Used to estimate the area of the roots available for absorption of nutrients and water. SRA is calculated by considering each root as cylinder with a measured length and diameter.
Fine root biomass	Biomass of fine roots is the amount of fine roots (dry weight) per ground area unit (g d.w. m ⁻²).
Root production	Root production is a fine root growth during one season. I measured root production by inserting nylon meshes in the soil at the beginning of growing season and extracting all fine roots entangled in the meshes at the end of the season.



Figure 7.1: Median number fine root tips in beech and spruce forests measured in logarithmic scales (Log10) per square meter (m²).



Figure 7.2: Median number fine root forks in beech and spruce forests measured in logarithmic scales (Log10) per square meter (m²).



Figure 7.3: Median fine root lengths measured in mm in logarithmic scales (Log10) per square meter (cm/m²).



Figure 7.4: Median average root diameter in spruce and beech measured in logarithmic scales (Log10) in millimeter (mm) per square meter (m²).



Figure 7.5: Median root surface area in beech and spruce measured in logarithmic scales (Log10) in square centimeters (cm^2) per square meter (m^2).



Figure 7.6: Median biomass of fine roots in spruce and beech in topsoil and subsoil measured in Log10 (logarithmic scales). Biomass is expressed in grams (g) dry weight (dw) per square meter (m²).



Figure 7.7: Median fine root production in spruce and beech measured in dry weight (dw) in grams (g) per square meter (m²).



Norges miljø- og biovitenskapelige universitet Noregs miljø- og biovitskapelege universitet Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås Norway